
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

CITY OF ST. MARYS, GEORGIA 

418 Osborne Road 

St. Marys, GA 31558 

 

June 16, 2025 

 

PUBLIC HEARING ALCOHOL  

RIVER WALK PIZZERIA, LLC 

5:45 P.M. 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

6:00 P.M. 
 

AMENDED AGENDA (06/16/2025) 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER  

II. INVOCATION: Councilmember Steven Conner 

III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

IV. ROLL CALL                 QUORUM: YES____     NO____ 

V.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES:   

June 2, 2025 City Council Meeting Minutes 

June 11, 2025 City Council Meeting Minutes FY2026 Budget Work Session 
 

VI. PRESENTATIONS:  
 

ROTARY CLUB OF CAMDEN COUNTY HELLO SUMMER FESTIVAL:  

Mr. Mitchell Blyler (President) & Mr. Jerre Brumbelow 
 

PROCLAMATION JUNETEENTH: Mayor Gregory Lockhart 
 

THIOKOL MEMORIAL PROJECT RECOGNITION: (Added) Councilmember Artie Jones, Jr.  

Ms. Jannie Everett (Founder) 
 

COACH JEFF HERON: (Added) Councilmember Artie Jones, Jr.  
 

BOARD APPOINTMENT (NEW BOARD) 

Tax Allocation District No. 3 Advisory Board (one seat) 
 

BOARD APPOINTMENT (TERM EXPIRATIONS) 

Camden County Board of Education Sex Education Instructional Review Committee 
  

VII.     REPORT OF AUTHORITIES, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS & COMMITTEES: 

 No Reports 
 



VIII.  REPORT OF CITY MANAGER:  

IX. SET CONSENT AGENDA 
 

X.  GRANTING AUDIENCE TO THE PUBLIC: 
 

XI.  APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 

XII. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

XIII. OLD BUSINESS:   

A. REZONING REQUEST FOR 118 SECOND STREET FROM R-1 SINGLE FAMILY 

RESIDENTIAL) TO R-2 (SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT): .............TAB “A”     

Jaime Stein (Community Development Director) David Lee McNabb requests 

rezoning of Tax Parcel 135E 020A with conditions. Property is currently zoned R-1. 
 

XIV.     NEW BUSINESS:  
 

A. ADOPTION OF FY2026 BUDGET: Marsha Klecan (Finance Director)……….TAB “B” 

Request approval to adopt FY 2026 Budget. 
 

B. OAK GROVE CEMETERY ORDINANCE AMENDMENT CHAPTER 30 CEMETERIES 

SECTION 30: Marsha Klecan (Finance Director) ………………………..…… TAB “C” 

Request approval to amend ordinance. 
 

C. OAK GROVE CEMETERY CREMATION PARK FEES: …………………...…….. TAB “D” 

Marsha Klecan (Finance Director) Request Council approval of recommended prices 

for lots in the Oak Grove Cemetery Cremation Park. 
 

D. MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN CAMDEN COUNTY & CITY OF ST. 

MARYS FOR CAMDEN COUNTY EMPLOYEE ONSITE HEALTH CLINIC FOR FY2026: 

Donna Larsen (Human Resources Director)…………………………………… TAB “E” 

Request approval of MOU to continue participating in county health clinic.  
 

E. ESPLANADE BOULEVARD CONSTRUCTION PROJECT CONTRACT FOR CITY PORTION 

OF ESPLANADE BLVD (VALLENCOURT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY):……….TAB “F” 

Bobby Marr (Public Works Director) Request approval and award of contract to 

Vallencourt Construction Company for roadway and improvement regarding City’s 

portion of Esplanade Blvd. in the amount of $2,313,078.98. 
 

F. NEW CITY HALL RENOVATION BID REJECTION AND RE-EVALUATION: ….TAB “G” 

Bobby Marr (Public Works Director) Request approval to reject bids received for 

New City Hall Renovation. 
 

G. FEDERAL GRANT FUNDING APPLICATIONS FOR ADDITIONAL CITY PERSONNEL IN 

POLICE & FIRE DEPARTMENTS (COPS HIRING PROGRAM-U.S. DEPARTMENT OF 

JUSTICE & SAFER GRANT-U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY/FEMA): 

Krystle Cherry (Grant Manager)………………………….………………………TAB “H” 

Request authorization to submit grant applications to SAFER & CHP.  
 

H. RIVER WALK PIZZERIA, LLC NEW ALCOHOL LICENSE: ………………….…TAB “I” 

Deborah Walker-Reed (City Clerk) Council consideration to approve a 2025 Beer, 

Wine and Liquor License on premise consumption with food.  



 

XV. ANNOUNCEMENT OF CALENDAR BY CITY CLERK: 

XVI.  COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS:  

XVII.  REPORT OF MAYOR: 

XVIII. EXECUTIVE SESSION: Personnel 

XIX. ADJOURNMENT: 
 

This is a tentative agenda and is subject to change, please check with City Hall prior to the 

Meeting for any revisions.  



MINUTES 
City Council Mtg. Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

Page 1 

  

 CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

June 2, 2025 

6:00 p.m. 

 
MINUTES 

The Mayor and City Council for the City of St. Marys, Georgia met for its regular City Council 

meeting on Monday, June 2, 2025 at 6:00 p.m. in Council Chambers at City Hall.  

 

PRESENT WERE:  Mayor Gregory Lockhart 

            Councilmember Steven Conner 

          Councilmember Chad Ingram 

             Councilmember Artie Jones, Jr.  

                      Councilmember Patricia Lynn Keene 

                     Councilmember Jeremy Nascimento  

                  Councilmember Allen F. Rassi, Jr.  
 

CITY OFFICIALS PRESENT:     Charlie Williams, Assistant City Manager 

                    Steven G. Blackerby, City Attorney 

               Marsha Klecan, Finance Director 

                                    Margaret Mesmer, Assistant Finance Director 

           James Galloway, Police Chief 

                     Bobby Marr, Public Works Director 

                                                           Chris Amos, Public Works Engineer 

                                                           Tom Lackner, Fire Chief 

                                   Alick Smith, Assistant Public Works Director 

                     Todd Iverson, Assistant Police Chief 
                                           
CALL TO ORDER:  

Mayor Lockhart called the City Council Meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. Councilmember Keene 

gave the invocation and Mayor Lockhart led the pledge of allegiance.  Council roll call indicated 

a quorum of Council members present in the meeting. 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:   

May 19, 2025 City Council Meeting Minutes (Public Hearing Proposed FY2026 Budget, Public 

Hearing Alcohol ALDI, Inc., Regular meeting & Executive Session) 

May 29, 2025 City Council Minutes  

(Special Called Meeting, FY2026 Budget Work Session & Storm Water Enterprise Fund Work 

Session) 

Councilmember Conner made a motion for the following minutes: May 19, 2025 (Public Hearing 

Proposed FY2026 Budget, Public Hearing Alcohol ALDI, Inc., Regular & Executive Session) 

and May 29, 2025 (Special Called, FY2026 Budget Work Session & Storm Water Enterprise 

Fund Work Session).  Councilmember Ingram seconded the motion.  Voting was unanimous in 

favor of the motion.   
 

PRESENTATIONS: 
 

CROOKED RIVER DRAINAGE STUDY: Mr. Ben Pierce  

(Georgia Water & Environmental Services, LLC)  



MINUTES 
City Council Mtg. Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

Page 2 

  

The Public Works Director stated Mr. Pierce previously worked for Glynn County, GA as the 

Drainage & Traffic Engineer, now works for GWES, LLC and conducted the drainage 

investigations for Crooked River Plantation Subdivision. Mr. Pierce spoke about the existing 

condition deficiency study/evaluation conducted, findings, potential concept improvements 

(phases) and report.  City Council asked which projects were a priority, engineering needed, 

immediate actions, if citizen yards are lower than road/drainage issue, outfall clean-out, culvert 

& drainage in roads and ditch behind Winding Road.  Mr. Pierce gave an overview.   
 

MISSING IN ACTION AND PRISONER OF WAR FLAG (MIA/POW): 

Councilmember Artie Jones, Jr.  

Mr. Tom Boyler asked if the city would fly the Missing In Action and Prisoner of War Flag at 

City Buildings and Council stated yes.  Mr. Roger Rillo spoke about the following: Member of 

local Veteran of Foreign Wars (VFW) with over 900 members, VFW event well attended with 

most attendees to date, thanked Council for approving MIA/POW Flag and requested memorial.  

Councilmember Jones spoke about ceremony, noted veterans who returned home from different 

wars were not welcomed and stated Congressman Buddy Carter spoke at ceremony.  
 

PROCLAMATION CITY COMMITMENT TO ZERO ROADWAY DEATHS: Mayor Gregory Lockhart 

Mayor Lockhart read proclamation stating city’s commitment to Zero Roadway Death.  
 

BOARD ANNOUNCEMENT (TERM EXPIRATION) 

St. Marys Library Board (Andy Diffenderfer & Beth Zupan) 

Mayor Lockhart announced openings on the St. Marys Library Board.  
 

BOARD APPOINTMENT (NEW BOARD) 

Tax Allocation District No. 3 Advisory Board (one seat) 

Mayor Lockhart announced an opening on the Tax Allocation District No. 3 Advisory Board. 
 

BOARD APPOINTMENT (TERM EXPIRATIONS) 

1. Camden County Board of Education Sex Education Instructional Review Committee 

2. St. Marys Library Board (Denese Proctor) 

Mayor Lockhart announced openings on the Camden County Board of Education Sex Education 

Instructional Review Committee.  
 

St. Marys Library Board 

Councilmember Rassi made a motion to appoint Ms. Angela Gerardi to the St. Marys Library 

Board.  Councilmember Keene seconded the motion. Voting was unanimous in favor of the 

motion.    
 

REPORT OF AUTHORITIES, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS & COMMITTEES:  
 

A. FINANCE REPORT’S REPORT: Marsha Klecan (Finance Director)  

The Finance Director presented tenth month Financial Reports for FY2025 and stated reports 

are on a cash basis. Councilmember Keene inquired if city received money from the Federal 

Emergency Management Agency regarding a storm and Mrs. Klecan stated no.       
 

REPORT OF CITY MANAGER: 

The Assistant City Manager spoke about the following: Bulk trash pick-up/media campaign, sink 

hole on Highway 40, Cumberland Island National Seashore downtown parking, May National 

Water Safety Month/St. Marys Aquatic Center swim lessons, storms (lighting strikes)/cameras, 



MINUTES 
City Council Mtg. Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

Page 3 

  

Senior Center digital literary (new computers/lessons), Police Department (cases, citations & 

arrests), Library event and hurricane season started June 1st (code red/website/social media).  
 

SET CONSENT AGENDA (*) 

City Council Set Consent Agenda as New Business Items A, C, D and E.  
 

GRANTING AUDIENCE TO THE PUBLIC: 
 

Alex Nelson, 500 McIntosh Drive: Mr. Nelson noted support for both proclamation on Zero 

Roadway Deaths and New Business Item E.  
 

Larry White, 102 Sylvia’s Court: Mr. White spoke about the following: New Business Item A 

potential parking hazards (diagonal), requested report from GWES, LLC drainage study be 

placed on city website, and inquired about start date of Mickler Drive Sewer Line for Exit 1 

Project (noted school dates and traffic).    
 

Ethelbert Seals, 816 River Drove West: Mr. Seals spoke about the following: Requested GWES, 

LLC drainage report on website/also show data on screen, St. Marys Aquatic Center needed, 

VFW event well attended, supports city marina, need former mill site property update and noted 

good lunches needed at senior center instead of school system meals.  
 

Larry Newton, 311 Bartlett Street: Mr. Newton spoke about the following: Appointed to Storm 

Water Task Force, residential property issues/drainage, ditches, noted background, storm water 

fee ($5.00) and suggested Council move forward with plan.   
 

Mayor Lockhart spoke about the following: Council Work Session on Storm Water Enterprise 

Fund, second ditch crew hired, new equipment to assist with cleaning ditches and reviewing fees. 
 

Roger Shaw, 30 Merrymount Court: Mr. Shaw thanked Council for having bushes cut back at 

Colerain & Winding Roads. 
 

Dave Schmitz, 112 New Hammock Circle: Mr. Schmitz spoke about the following:  Ditches not 

cleaned in Shadowlawn Subdivision since 1991, GADOT needs to create directional arrows at 

intersection in front of Hardees, New Business Item A (Mayor Lockhart stated city unable to 

make changes to state highway), noted other cities have larger recreation budget, storm water 

fees, inquired if specific areas are exempt from storm water fees (Council stated no one exempt 

including city & churches), correspondence from Service Line Warranty of America (SLWA) 

and noted USAA does not cover these services, stated owner of Dodgers (who purchased 

property downtown) should be contacted regarding donation to city projects like recreation.   
 

Karen White, 609 Margaret Street: Mrs. White inquired about repair of tennis courts and 

inquired why wonderful city personnel are being fired. 
 

Christine Adamow, 901 Ann Street: Mrs. Adamow spoke about the following:  Glad city is 

discussing FY2026 budget, city operating budget has increased 20% over the last few years, 

(misleading numbers/increased budget for new city hall), asset management needed, city staff at 

marina fired, noted Aquatic Center needed however (city does not own property, mismanaged,& 

/losing money), noted city has personnel issues/ making bad decisions/ city in transition, 

negative trend in fiscal management and city management team not performing.  

 
 

 

 
 



MINUTES 
City Council Mtg. Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

Page 4 

  

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA (*) 

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to approve the consent agenda as New Business Items A, 

C, D and E. Councilmember Conner seconded the motion.  Voting was unanimous in favor of 

the motion.   
 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA: 

Councilmember Jones made a motion to approve amended agenda. Councilmember Nascimento 

seconded the motion. Voting was unanimous in favor of the motion.    
 

OLD BUSINESS: No Items.  
 

NEW BUSINESS: 
 

A. RESOLUTION TO REMOVE & REDESIGNATE SECTION OF STATE ROUTE 40 FROM STATE 

HIGHWAY SYSTEM (GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION) (*):  

Bobby Marr (Public Works Director) Request approval and authorization for Mayor 

Gregory Lockhart to sign resolution to remove Osborne Street from Gallop Street to Church 

Street from state highway system and redesignate as a local road. 
 

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to approve Resolution removing section of State 

Route 40 from State Highway System (Osborne Street from Gallop Street to Church Street) 

and redesignate as local road. Councilmember Conner seconded the motion.  Voting was 

unanimous in favor of the motion.   
 

B. ADOPTION OF FY 2026 BUDGET ORDINANCE: Marsha Klecan (Finance Director)  

Request approval of adoption of FY 2026 Budget. 
 

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to approve adoption of the FY2026 Budget 

Ordinance.  Councilmember Conner seconded the motion. Councilmember Keene moved for 

discussion and stated she appreciates hard work and noted why she opposes budget ($3.5 

million revenue for real estate should be in forecast, $6 million in budget for new city hall 

however told it would be $1.8 million a few years ago however bids received higher than 

anticipated at $10 million, noted city does not have a Capital Improvement Plan and unable 

in good conscious to vote in favor). Councilmember Jones stated he agrees and noted city 

should not speculate on money not received for potential real estate sale.  
 

Councilmember Rassi stated in favor of new city hall but noted important projects must be 

addressed like sidewalks, etc. which come first.  Councilmember Ingram noted money needs 

to be earmarked for building, stated expending $14,000 monthly, noted city needs to leave 

current building to move into new one and noted once Council agrees, staff can move. 

Councilmember Nascimento noted $10 million bid received which did not include new roof, 

stated revisions needed to new city hall plan (reducing office spaces, etc.) for additional cuts, 

want to be prudent/fiscally responsible and sated hurricane season coming.  Councilmember 

Conner stated if building not fiscally feasible then city unable to move forward. Mayor 

Lockhart spoke about the following: Budget needed for new City Hall renovation, city unable 

to move forward with current costs (cost saving measures needed), need expense of one city 

hall being, Council respectful of tax dollars and noted other city properties like waterfront, 

etc. don’t generate money however contribute to quality of life.  Voting was recorded as 

follows: 
 



MINUTES 
City Council Mtg. Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

Page 5 

  

FOR    OPPOSED               

Councilmembers Ingram   Councilmember Jones, Keene, Nascimento and Rassi 
 

ABSTAINED   

Councilmember Conner 
 

The motion did not pass. The Finance Director stated the following: City does have to have 

an approved budget in place before July 1, 2025 which is the first day of FY2026, if not we 

cannot operate on July 1st. Mrs. Klecan stated it is up to Council how they want to proceed 

with this as she would like to have two weeks before implementation on July 1st because they 

have to manually put the whole budget in for the city. The Finance Director stated she 

wanted Council to be aware of the facts as the city will not open on July 1st. 
 

Councilmember Rassi suggested a Council Work Session on June 16, 2025. Council 

discussed dates.  Councilmember Rassi stated okay with everything in budget except new 

city hall noting Council can amend.  The Finance Director noted if you pass the budget as 

presented, it does not mean that is what you spend. Council discussed cuts and noted other 

concerns with budget. The City Attorney noted the budget needs to be clearly stated in 

writing and would not suggest amending the budget orally.  
 

C. TIME CLOCK PLUS MULTIYEAR CONTRACT (*): Marsha Klecan (Finance Director)  

Request approval and authorization for Mayor Gregory Lockhart to sign five-year contract 

for City Personnel time tracking software.  
 

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to approve the contract with Time Clock Plus.  

Councilmember Conner seconded the motion.  Voting was unanimous in favor of the motion.   
 

D. ST MARYS POLICE DEPARTMENT AXON BODY CAMERA DOCKING STATION LEASE 

AGREEMENT (*):  James Galloway (Police Chief) Request approval and authorization for 

Mayor Gregory Lockhart to sign 41-month lease agreement for body camera docking station. 
 

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to approve lease agreement with Axon Enterprises, 

Inc. Councilmember Conner seconded the motion.  Voting was unanimous in favor of the 

motion.   
 

E. SAFE STREETS AND ROADS FOR ALL GRANT APPLICATION U.S. DEPARTMENT OF 

TRANSPORTATION (PLANNING & DEMONSTRATION FUNDS) (*):    

Krystle Cherry (Grants Manager) Request approval, authorization to submit grant and 

proclamation.    
 

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to approve Safe Streets and Road for All grant 

application regarding Planning & Demonstration Funds.  Councilmember Conner seconded 

the motion.  Voting was unanimous in favor of the motion.   
 

F. 3RD QUARTER TOWN HALL & DEVELOPMENT PROGRESS UPDATE:                                                                 

Deborah Walker-Reed (City Clerk) To discuss 3rd Quarter meetings scheduled for July 3, 

2025 at 5:00 p.m. & 6:00 p.m. 
 

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to reschedule the 3rd Quarter Town Hall & 

Development Progress Update to Thursday, July 10, 2025 at 5:00 p.m. and 6:00 p.m. 

Councilmember Keene seconded the motion.  Voting was unanimous in favor of the motion.   
 



MINUTES 
City Council Mtg. Minutes 

June 2, 2025 

Page 6 

  

 

    
A. ANNOUCMENT OF CALENDAR BY CITY CLERK: City Clerk 

The City Clerk announced upcoming meetings up to June 16, 2025. 
 

B. COUNCIL COMMENTS:  

Councilmember Rassi noted the St. Marys Kiwanis meeting with city regarding the 

Independence Day Festival and stated anyone who would like to donate for fireworks display 

is welcome.  Councilmember Ingram announced events on Saturday with the historic fishing 

tournament and Hello Summer Festival.  Councilmember Conner thanked audience for 

attending, noted public and Council wants what is best for city, Council makes tough 

decisions, thanked everyone for attending  
 

C. REPORT OF MAYOR:  

Mayor Lockhart announced craft beer tasting and Hello Summer Festival events.   
 

EXECUTIVE SESSION: No Executive Session. 
 

ADJOURNMENT:  

Councilmember Rassi made a motion for adjournment.  Councilmember Conner seconded the 

motion.  Voting was unanimously in favor of the motion.  Mayor Lockhart declared the meeting 

adjourned at 7:45 p.m. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

 
 

Deborah Walker-Reed, City Clerk 



MINUTES 
City Council FY2026 Budget Work Session 

June 11, 2025 

 

 

CITY OF ST. MARYS, GEORGIA 

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION  

June 11, 2025 

6:00 p.m. 

 

The Mayor and Council for the City of St. Marys, Georgia held a Work Session on the Proposed 

FY2026 Budget on Wednesday, June 11, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. in Council Chambers at City Hall.  

 

TOPIC: PROPOSED FY2026 BUDGET 
 

PRESENT WERE:   

Mayor Gregory Lockhart and Councilmembers Steven Conner, Chad Ingram, Artie Jones, Jr.,  

Patricia Keene, and Allen F. Rassi, Jr.  
 

ABSENT WERE: Councilmember Jeremy Nascimento 
                             
CITY OFFICIALS PRESENT:   

Robert Horton, Jr., City Manager; Charlie Williams, Assistant City Manager; Marsha Klecan, 

Finance Director; Margaret Mesmer, Assistant Finance Director; Jaime Stein, Community 

Development Director; Angela Wigger, Tourism Director; James Galloway, Police Chief; Tom 

Lackner, Fire Chief; Bobby Marr, Public Works Director; Donna Larsen, Human Resources 

Director; Candace Pullum, Main Street Manager; Cassandra Jewel, Accountant; Kim Dockery, 

Accountant; Judy Heim, Accounts Payable; and Alick Smith, Assistant Public Works Director.   
 

Mayor Lockhart opened Work Session at 6:00 p.m.  
 

FY2026 BUDGET 

Mayor Lockhart gave an overview and stated the following: Council sent email this morning 

with budget revisions / noted hard copies on dais, noted budget revision was removal of $3.5 

million from expenditure and revenue (potential real estate transaction and noted it is not this 

building) and asked if Council had any concerns.  Councilmember Keene spoke about the 

following: Inquired if $3.5 million is removed why $2.5 million still in budget, noted American 

Rescue Plan Act Funding and Fund Equity regarding new City Hall, mentioned budget 

amendment might be needed for new City Hall construction, and recommendation is a cleaner 

way in proposed budget.  
 

The City Manager noted funds left and mentioned new roof needed for new City Hall.  

Councilmember Keene mentioned options noted from City Attorneys regarding budget extension 

and removing both budget lines items for new City Hall (revenue/expenditures).  Mayor 

Lockhart gave an overview and Councilmember Ingram noted a Council Work Session is needed 

for new City Hall. The City Manager requested clarification noting removal of $2.5 million from 

Fund Equity and Governmental Buildings leaving $494,939.  Mayor Lockhart asked if audience 

would like to comment and no one spoke.    
 

ADJOURNMENT:  

Mayor Lockhart declared Work Session closed at 6:11 p.m. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

  

____________________________ 

Deborah Walker-Reed, City Clerk 


























































































































































































	Agenda
	Draft Minutes 
	Presentation
	Proclamation Juneteenth
	Old Business
	A. Rezoning Request 118 Second Street-David Lee McNabb
	New Business
	A. Adoption of FY2026 Budget
	B. Oak Grove Cemetery Ordinance Amendment
	C. Oak Grove Cemetery Cremation Park Fees
	D. MOU Camden County Employee Onsite Health Clinic
	E. Esplanade Blvd Construction Project Contract-Vallencourt Construction Company
	F. New City Hall Renovation Bid Rejection Request
	G. Federal Grant Funding Applications Additional Personnel Fire & Police-SAFER Grant & CHP 
	H. River Walk Pizzeria New Alcohol License

